
VOLUSIA GROWTH

MANAGEMENT COMMISSION

Resolution No. 1987-6,

(as amended by Resolution No. 1993-2, 2000-02, 2001-05, 2006-03, 2008-05, 2009-03, 2010-05, 2010-08, 2012-04, 2016-04, 2019-02, and 2021-03)

Rules of Procedure for Meetings, Membership, and Operations

> Adopted by the Commission on June 24, 1987, and amended on February 24, 1993, April 26, 2000, April 25, 2001, April 26, 2006, August 27,2008, February 25, 2009, March 24, 2010, November 17, 2010, November 28, 2012, September 28, 2016, March 27, 2019, and September 22, 2021

Resolution No. 1987-6,

as amended by Resolution No. 1993-2,

Resolution No. 2000-02,

Resolution No. 2001-05,

Resolution No. 2006-03,

Resolution No. 2008-05,

Resolution No. 2009-03,

Resolution No. 2010-05,

Resolution No. 2010-08.

Resolution No. 2012-04,

Resolution No. 2016-04,

Resolution No. 2019-02

Resolution No. 2021-03

VOLUSIA GROWTH
MANAGEMENT COMMISSION

RULES OF PROCEDURE for MEETINGS, MEMBERSHIP, AND OPERATIONS

ARTICLE I. NAME AND PURPOSE

<u>Section 1. Name</u>. As specified in Section 202.3, Article II of the Volusia County Charter (the "Charter") this body shall be known as the Volusia Growth Management Commission (hereinafter, the "Commission").

<u>Section 2. Purpose</u>. Pursuant to the Charter, the purposes of this Commission shall be to:

- (a) Determine the consistency of the comprehensive plans, the elements thereof, and the amendments thereto of the county and all municipalities in the county.
- (b) Perform such other directly related duties as the Commission from time to time deems necessary.

ARTICLE II. MEETINGS

<u>Section 1. Open Meetings</u>. All meetings of the Commission, including all meetings of its committees and subcommittees, shall be open to the public in the manner prescribed by Section 286.011 of Florida Statutes (the "Government in the Sunshine" law).

<u>Section 2. Frequency, Time, and Place of Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Commission will be held at a time and location to be specified in the annual meeting schedule described in Section 6 of this Article II, unless such time or location is changed (i) by a weighted majority vote of the Commission or (ii) by order of the Commission Chairman after reasonable notice to Commission members.

Section 3. Special and Emergency Meetings; Annual Meetings. Special meetings may be held either (i) by order of the Chairman after at least 7 days written or verbal notice to members of the Commission or (ii) by order of the Commission by motion approved by a weighted majority vote at a previous meeting. Emergency meetings may be held as necessary with reasonable notice to all Commission members, but any action taken at an emergency meeting shall be void unless subsequently ratified by the Commission at its next regular meeting. Special and emergency meetings will be limited to the matters of business for which the meeting is called. The Commission may also establish an annual meeting under such circumstances as it deems appropriate.

<u>Section 4. Continuation of Meetings</u>. The Commission may continue a meeting if all agenda items cannot be completed at the meeting.

Section 5. Cancellation of Meetings. Upon written or oral notice to all members at least 48 hours before the meeting, a Commission meeting may be canceled by the Chairman when there is no substantial business to be conducted. The meeting may also be canceled without prior notice when there has been a death of a Commission member or a natural disaster, or when there exists severe weather or the threat of severe weather.

Section 6. Public Notice of Meetings. The Commission will publish its annual schedule of regular meetings on the Commission website. The Commission will also file annually a schedule of its regular meeting dates with Volusia County, each municipality in Volusia County, and in a newspaper of general circulation in Volusia County. The schedule shall include the date, time and location of each regular meeting and shall constitute full and adequate public notice of regular meetings. However, if the date, time or location of any regular meeting is changed by either the Commission or its Chairman pursuant to Sections 2 or 3 of this Article II, notice of the change shall be given to the public in a manner complying with the Government in the Sunshine Law.

The Commission will provide the county and municipalities with written or verbal notice of all special and emergency meetings. The Commission will advertise the day, time, place and purposes of any special meeting at least 7 days prior to the meeting in a newspaper of general circulation in the county. Emergency meetings may be held with reasonable notice to the public.

The Commission shall notify Volusia County and all municipalities in Volusia County of any cancellation of a meeting. Notice of cancellation of any regular meeting will also be published on the Commission website.

Section 7. Hearing Documentation.

a. All documentation required for a Commission public hearing shall be received by the Commission office at least twenty (20) working days prior to the hearing/meeting date.

<u>Section 8. Agenda for Regular Meetings</u>. Unless otherwise modified by the Commission Chairman, the agenda for regular meetings of the Commission shall include the following:

- 1. Call to order
- 2. Roll Call
- 3. Citizen Comments on matters other than scheduled hearings
- 4. Approval of minutes of previous meeting
- 5. Public hearings
- 6. Reports from Planning Consultant
- 7. Reports from Legal Counsel
- 8. Reports from Commission Operations Manager
- 9. Reports from Commission Chairman
- 10. Unfinished business
- 11. New business
- 12. Commissioner Requests or Remarks
- 13. Adjournment

<u>Section 9. Order for Public Hearings.</u> Unless otherwise modified by the Commission Chairman, the order for public hearings shall be as follows:

- 1. VGMC Staff will present their final report.
- 2. Those who support the application will be allowed to speak:
 - a. The applicant local government;
 - b. The entity on whose behalf the local government filed the application;
 - c. All other persons in support.
- 3. Those who oppose the application will be allowed to speak.
- 4. A brief time for rebuttal of those supporting the application.
- 5. Public input portion of the hearing is closed and the matter will be considered by the commission.

<u>Section 10. Order for Party Status Determinations.</u> When a unit of local government has petitioned to be a party in a proceeding, the commission will consider the request and determine party status prior to the VGMC Staff report presentation outlined in Section 9.1. Unless otherwise modified by the Commission Chairman, the order for determining party status shall be as follows:

- 1. VGMC Legal Staff will present an overview and analysis.
- 2. The Petitioner will address the commission.
- 3. The applicant jurisdiction will be allowed to speak.
- 4. Any others wishing to speak on the limited matter of party status.
- 5. The commission will consider the matter and make a determination on whether or not to grant party status.

When considering party status, the basic test for a substantially affected or aggrieved party is to establish that:

- a. They are in close proximity to the area under consideration for the amendment: and
- b. They are affected by the amendment to a degree greater than the general public.

<u>Section 11.</u> Recording of Minutes. Following each meeting, the Secretary will insure minutes are prepared and distributed to Commission members for approval at a subsequent meeting. All records of the Commission shall be available to the public in the manner provided by Chapter 119 of Florida Statutes.

ARTICLE III. QUORUM AND VOTING

<u>Section 1. Voting/Non-voting Members</u>. The Commission shall be composed of voting and non-voting members as provided in the Charter.

<u>Section 2. Weighted Votes</u>. Voting members of the Commission shall have weighted votes initially according to the percentages set forth in Commission Resolution 87-2 and thereafter as the Commission may determine for each calendar year.

<u>Section 3. Quorum.</u> No action may be taken by the Commission unless a quorum is present. A quorum shall exist only when there is present both (i) a majority of the currently serving voting members of the Commission without regard to the weight of votes and (ii) voting members representing more than 50% of all weighted votes of currently serving voting members.

<u>Section 4. Majority Rule</u>. Except where otherwise provided in these rules, an affirmative vote of a majority of the voting members present at a meeting and an affirmative vote of more than 50% of the total weighted votes of the voting members present at a meeting shall be necessary for the Commission to take any action.

<u>Section 5. Proxy Voting.</u> No Commission member shall have the power to vote by proxy. Only those members present at a meeting may vote.

<u>Section 6. Conflict of Interest</u>. Voting members shall vote on all actions except as provided in Section 112.3143(3) of Florida Statutes or other applicable law.

ARTICLE IV. CONSISTENCY DETERMINATIONS

The rules of procedure for the Commission's consistency review and the manner in which Section 202.3 of the Charter is to be enforced, including guidelines and criteria to be used by the Commission in determining consistency of comprehensive plans, are contained within the Volusia County Ordinance known as the "Volusia Growth Management Commission Comprehensive Plan Consistency Certification Rules and Organization."

ARTICLE V. COMMISSIONER REQUESTS

Section1. Commissioner Requests.

- (a) A request from a Commissioner outside of a Commission meeting shall be directed to the Operations Manager. Requests shall not be sent directly to the legal or planning staff of the Commission.
 - (i) A request for an information item shall be responded to by the Operations Manager and provided to the Commissioner.
 - (ii) A request for an item requiring research shall be forwarded by the Operations Manager to the Chairman for determination on how to proceed in accordance with Article VII, Section 3(i), (j) or (k), as appropriate, of this Resolution, as amended.
- (b) A request from a Commissioner for information, research or a proposal may be made at any regular Commission meeting in accordance with Article II, Section 8.12 of this Resolution, as amended. Upon approval by the Commission to proceed with the request, the written response shall be presented to the Commission at a future meeting.

ARTICLE VI. COMMITTEES

<u>Section 1. Committees Generally</u>. The Commission may from time to time create such standing or ad hoc committees as are deemed necessary or desirable. Standing committees may have subcommittees appointed by the chairman of the respective committees.

Section 2. Committee Terms. Except when provided otherwise in these rules, the chairmen and members of all standing committees will be appointed by the Commission Chairman no more than 30 days after the annual election of the Commission Chairman. The term of the members and the chairmen of all standing committees shall be one year. In the event of a vacancy in the membership or chair of a standing or ad hoc committee, the Commission Chairman shall appoint a replacement for the unexpired term.

Section 3. Creation of Certain Standing Committees.

- (a) <u>Personnel, Operations and Procedures Committee</u>. There is hereby created the Personnel, Operations & Procedures Committee to consist of 7 voting members, to be chaired by the Vice Chairman of the Commission, and to perform such functions as assigned by these rules or from time to time by the Commission.
- (b) <u>Budget Committee</u>. There is hereby created the Budget Committee to consist of 7 voting members, to be chaired by the Secretary of the Commission, and to perform such functions as assigned by these rules or from time to time by the Commission. Budget Committee will meet a minimum of two times during a calendar year.
- <u>Section 4. Committee Chair.</u> In the absence of the Committee Chair and Commission Chair, the Committee Chair may, through direction to administrative staff, delegate a member of the committee to chair a committee meeting.

<u>Section 5. Committee Attendance.</u> Attendance at all standing or ad hoc committee meetings by the committee members is mandatory. If a committee member fails to attend three committee meetings during any calendar year ending December 31, the committee member shall be deemed removed from the committee appointment and the Committee Chairman shall provide notice of such removal to the committee member and the Chairman of the Commission. The vacancy shall thereafter be filled by the Chairman of the Commission.

<u>Section 6. Committee Authority</u>. All recommendations voted upon by committees shall serve as a motion and second for consideration and final action by the full Commission at a regular meeting of the Commission.

ARTICLE VII. OFFICERS

<u>Section 1. Officers</u>. The Commission shall elect a Chairman, Vice-Chairman, and Secretary.

<u>Section 2. Term of Office.</u> The election of Commission officers shall be conducted at the first regular meeting in September of each year. If no regular meeting of the Commission is scheduled in September, the election of Commission officers shall occur at the first regular meeting scheduled thereafter. Officers shall be determined by a weighted vote of a majority of the Commission and shall serve for terms of one year, or until a successor is elected. No officer shall serve more than 4 consecutive full terms in the same office.

Section 3. Duties of Chairman. The Chairman shall:

- (a) preside at all meetings of the Commission;
- (b) execute correspondence and documents on behalf of the Commission;
- (c) act as Commission spokesperson on behalf of the Commission, or may delegate representation on behalf of the Commission to a member or other appropriate individual;
- (d) approve and execute expenditures, but only those expenditures budgeted and approved by the Commission:
- (e) appoint all committee members and, except as otherwise provided in these rules, the chairmen of all committees;
- (f) shall carry out the duties of the Vice Chairman as described in Article VII, Section 4.(c) in the absence of the Vice Chairman;
- (g) shall carry out the duties of the Secretary as described in Article VII, Section 5. in the absence of the Secretary;
- (h) representation on behalf of the Commission can be delegated;
- upon receipt of a proposal not directly related to review of an application, including but not limited to specific projects and study requests, forward such proposal to the Budget and the Personnel, Operations and Procedures Committees for review in accordance with Article IX, Section 5, of this Resolution, as amended;
- (j) upon receipt of a request for activities within the scope of being directly related to review of an application, review such request and, if warranted in the Chairman's judgment, authorize such request for action by forwarding such request to the Planning Consultant or Legal Counsel, as appropriate; and
- (k) upon receipt of a procedural issue, review such issue and, if warranted in the Chairman's judgment, forward such issue to Legal Counsel for a response.

Section 4. Duties of the Vice-Chairman. The Vice-Chairman shall:

- (a) assume all duties of Chairman in his or her absence or inability to act;
- (b) serve as acting Chairman in the absence of a Chairman; and
- (c) act as personnel officer for the Commission, with such authority as granted to him by these rules or as specified from time to time by the Commission, and serve as Chairman of the Personnel, Operations and Procedures Committee.

Section 5. Duties of Secretary. The Secretary shall:

- (a) insure minutes of meetings are prepared and presented to the commission for approval;
- (b) attest the minutes of the meetings, and other documents and certificates of the Commission;
- (c) insure agenda packages are prepared and distributed to members of the Commission;
- (d) insure all minutes and other Commission records are available for public inspection as required by Chapter 119 of the Florida Statutes:
- (e) insure all required public notices are prepared and timely filed;
- (f) insure the Commission membership list is maintained and updated; and
- (g) serve as Chairman of the Budget Committee.

<u>Section 6. Vacancies of Offices</u>. In the event a vacancy occurs in one of the elected offices, the vacancy shall be filled by the majority vote of the Commission members present at the meeting at which the vacancy occurs or at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

ARTICLE VIII. STAFFING

In accordance with Section 90-54 of the Volusia County Code, the commission may retain attorneys, planners and other experts only as independent contractors. The commission with the approval of the county manager may employ administrative staff who shall be employees of the county; otherwise any administrative staff of the commission shall be leased employees. Any such county employee shall serve at the direction and pleasure of the commission; shall be unclassified under the provisions of the merit system; shall be paid according to the county compensation and classification plan in a range designated by the county personnel director; shall receive only those pay increases to which other county employees would be entitled or eligible; shall accrue leave and benefits otherwise applicable to a county employee; and shall comply with all rules and policies applicable to county employees not inconsistent with the direction of the

commission. The commission shall select any such county employee under a competitive application process administered by the county personnel director who shall approve the starting salary of the employee. The commission shall adhere to the advice of the personnel director regarding the law governing the county as an employer and rules and policies applicable to county employees.

<u>Section 1. Administrative Staff.</u> The Commission staff shall consist of such personnel or consultants determined from time to time by the Commission to be needed to implement and administer Commission directives and policies or organization. The Commission currently has one (1) administrative staff member, the Commission Operations Manager, who is an employee of Volusia County. The Commission may also contract with an organization which has no conflicts with the interests of the Commission to perform ministerial, office functions.

<u>Section 2. Employees.</u> Administrative employees, whether leased, contracted or employees of Volusia County shall be hired based upon the approval of a majority vote of the Personnel, Operations and Procedures Committee and the approval by a majority weighted vote of the Commission. Administrative employees who are an employee of Volusia County shall also be hired in accordance with Section 90-54 of the Volusia County Code.

<u>Section 3. Staff Duties</u>. A staff report shall be presented to the Commission every thirty days. The Commission's staff shall otherwise perform such duties as the Commission assigns from time to time.

To avoid confusion, "Staff Reports" and "Final Staff Report" by persons other than salaried Commission employees shall be designated as "Commission Planning Consultant Report" or "Commission Legal Counsel Report".

<u>Section 4. Commission Offices</u>. The offices of the Commission, where the Commission's staff shall be located, where the Commission's records shall be kept, and where the Commission shall accept deliveries, mail and application for consistency determinations, shall be at locations as deemed appropriate by the Commission from time to time.

Section 5. Employee Salaries and Policies.

Salary ranges for staff who are hired as Volusia County employees shall be established in accordance with Section 90-54 of the Volusia County Code. For leased or contracted staff, the Personnel, Operations and Procedures Committee will recommend salary ranges for all employees. Salaries will be approved by an un-weighted majority vote of the Commission as part of the approval of the budget for each fiscal year. Personnel policies will be prepared and revised as necessary by the Executive Director and recommended to the Commission by the Personnel, Operations and Procedures Committee. An un-weighted majority vote of the Commission will be required for adopting and revising the Personnel Policies.

<u>Section 6. Clerical Service Requirements</u>. In the event that the commission decides to contract with an organization for clerical service, the following shall apply:

- (a) The organization cannot at any time have a conflict with the interest of the Commission.
- (b) The organization will agree to comply with all reasonable requests for assistance to the Commission, including supervision.
- (c) Compensation for the organization, staff, supplies, and expenses shall be budgeted during the regular Commission process. Any excesses in expenditures by category will be reported to the Budget Committee within five working days and scheduled for review at the next regular or special meeting of the Budget Committee.
- (d) The organization shall designate the responsible staff person from within the organization that will work directly with the Commission and its staff and consultants.
- (e) All employees will work for the organization and the organization will be responsible for all employee compensation, benefits, insurances, and other costs. The organization will have sole authority to hire, discipline, evaluate, and fire its employees.

<u>Section 7. Consultant Staff.</u> The Commission may contract with outside professionals to provide services such as legal and planning consultation to the Commission. The Commission shall solicit proposals from time to time as determined by the Commission following a solicitation and selection process consistent with Volusia County Purchasing policies. A professional consultant and award of contract shall be approved by a majority vote of the Commission upon the recommendation of the Personnel, Operations and Procedures Committee.

ARTICLE IX. BUDGET

<u>Section 1. Fiscal Year</u>. The Commission's fiscal year will be the same as for Volusia County.

<u>Section 2. Preparation of Budget</u>. The Budget Committee will present a proposed budget to the Commission at the first regular meeting of each calendar year for the purpose of soliciting comments from the Commission members. Thereafter, the Budget Committee will finalize the proposed budget and present it to the Commission for final approval prior to the established deadline for submission to Volusia County. Pursuant to Section 202.3 of the Volusia County Charter, the annual budget must be approved by a two-thirds vote of the Commission.

<u>Section 3. Financial Reports</u>. A budget use report (that is, a report on revenue and expenditures) will be presented to the Commission each quarter during the budget year.

<u>Section 4. Deviations</u>. Any budget deviation exceeding 10% of any material line item shall be reported by the Executive Director (or otherwise by the Commission's senior employee) to the Chairman of the Budget Committee within ten days of discovery.

Section 5. Proposals.

- a. All proposals, including special projects and study requests, will include a comprehensive, itemized budget.
- b. All proposals, special projects and study requests must be found to be reasonable and necessary by the Commission. The Budget and Personnel and Operations Committees shall provide a recommendation to the full Commission prior to presentation for review and approval/disapproval by the Commission.
- c. All unsolicited proposals, special projects and study requests must be presented as separate entities and considered for the fiscal year's budget.

Section 6. Reimbursements and Billing – Consultant Staff.

- a. No itemized budgets, statements, billings, or requests for reimbursements from the Commission consultants will be approved for any billing category labeled "Commission General Administration," "General Administrative Work" or any similar title duplicating the responsibilities of the Commission office.
- b. The scope of work shall include meetings of contracted Commission consultants with Volusia County and county municipalities. Other, non-Commission meetings are not reimbursable expenses.
- c. Travel will be reimbursed at the hourly rate of pay approved for contracted staff. Travel costs for mileage will be limited to the then current rate approved by Florida Law.
- d. All reimbursable expenses for consultants will be paid in accordance with the total approved budget. No expenses shall be considered reimbursable that have not been either pre-authorized or specifically requested by the Commission.
- e. Invoices for reimbursable expenses will correspond to and include services rendered during that billing period.
- f. Invoices will include an itemized justification that clearly indicates the Commission case number for each service rendered, including: individual consultant staff performing each service, service/work performed and time spent on each activity.

- g. All invoices/billings shall be submitted during the fiscal year in which the services were rendered.
- h. Consultants will use E-mail and FAX to expedite documents to the Commission office unless specifically requested on a case-by-case basis by a Commission officer or the Commission Operations Manager.
- i. All invoices/billings are to be first reviewed by the Commission Operations Manager. The Commission Operations Manager is authorized to correct, return as incomplete, return with questions of justification, or return with questions regarding compliance with billing procedures.
- j. All invoices/billings receive final review and authorization for payment by at least one (1) Commission officer. Such Commission officer may correct, return as incomplete, return with questions of justification, return with questions regarding compliance with billing procedures, or refuse payment on any portion of an invoice.

Section 7. Reimbursement - Members. The members of the Commission shall not receive compensation for the performance of their duties hereunder, but a member shall be paid his or her necessary expenses incurred on behalf of the Commission as approved by an officer of the Commission. Members shall also be reimbursed a flat rate travel allowance, as determined by the Commission, for in-person attendance at regular meetings of the Commission. Committee meetings scheduled at times other than when a regular meeting is held, or other such meetings where in-person attendance is deemed necessary and approved in advance by an officer of the Commission, shall also be reimbursed.

ARTICLE X. MISCELLANEOUS

<u>Section 1. Amendments</u>. These Rules of Procedure may be amended by a weighted majority vote of the Commission during any regular meeting. The meeting in which the vote is taken regarding the amendment must be immediately preceded by a regular meeting in which the amendment is included as an agenda item for discussion.

<u>Section 2. Suspension of Rules</u>. A rule may be suspended at anytime upon approval by a weighted majority vote of the members present. However, no more than one rule may be suspended at any one meeting, no one rule may be suspended at two consecutive meetings, and in no event may the rules in Article III ever be suspended at any meeting.

Section 3. Review of Rules. Rules will be reviewed no less than every two years.

<u>Section 4. Roberts Rules of Order</u>. In those circumstances in which these Rules of Procedure do not address a procedural situation, the commission shall refer to Roberts Rules of Order for guidance.

<u>Section 5.</u> Effective <u>Date</u>. These rules shall be effective immediately upon their approval by a weighted majority vote of the Commission.

Adopted this 22nd day of September, 2021.

VOLUSIA GROWTH MANAGEMENT COMMISSION

	By:VGMC Chair
	By: POP Committee Chair
ATTEST:	
VGMC Secretary	
FILED WITH THE SECRETARY	THIS,.
Merry Chris Smith, VGMC Operat	 ions Manager